Rochester Institute of Technology

RIT Digital Institutional Repository

Theses

1-1-2024

Review of Literature on Efficacy and Safety of Birthing Positions with Emphasis on International Cultural Influences on Obstetric Care

Ava E. Retsch aer5680@rit.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.rit.edu/theses

Recommended Citation

Retsch, Ava E., "Review of Literature on Efficacy and Safety of Birthing Positions with Emphasis on International Cultural Influences on Obstetric Care" (2024). Thesis. Rochester Institute of Technology. Accessed from

This Master's Project is brought to you for free and open access by the RIT Libraries. For more information, please contact repository@rit.edu.

Review of Literature on Efficacy and Safety of Birthing Positions with Emphasis on

International Cultural Influences on Obstetric Care

Ava E. Retsch

Rochester Institute of Technology

21 July 2023

Table of Contents

Purpose Statement	3
Abstract	4
Introduction	5
Methods/Evidence Acquisition	7
Results/Discussion/Evidence Synthesis	7
Medical Determinations of Safety and Efficacy of Birthing Positions	7
Duration of the Second Stage of Labor	8
Immediate Postpartum Maternal and Neonatal Health Indicators	9
Perineal Trauma and OASI	13
Social Implications of Opportunities to Utilize Preference in Birthing Position	16
Conclusion	19
Appendix A: Tables	20
Table 1: Duration of Second Stage Labor	20
Table 2: Neonatal Outcomes- APGAR Score	21
Table 3: Maternal Outcomes- Hemorrhage	21
Table 4: Perineal Injury	22
References	23

Purpose Statement

The birthing convention in the U.S. is such that most individuals give birth supine in a hospital bed, without the knowledge that there are alternative positions available. Globally, the physical position of the birthing person during labor is often influenced by personal preference, medical indication, hospital guidelines, and cultural beliefs and expectations. To understand the complex and multifaceted landscape of best practices regarding birthing position, this clinical topic review of vaginal birthing positions in the second stage of labor will detail risks and benefits, explore limitations to implementation, and provide a knowledge base to assist providers in counseling their patients on the selection of an optimal birthing position. Medical providers must be readily prepared with clinical evidence describing various birthing positions to best counsel their patients during labor and delivery and to understand when non-supine birthing positions may be an acceptable or optimal alternative to the norm.

Abstract

Background: When examining most non-Westernized societies, parturients hold all the power in the birthing space with traditional birth attendants and medical staff serving as guiding forces and protectors, not directors of the process. Social media in Western countries is filled with stories from birthing people who felt unsupported, ignored, or discriminated against by their healthcare providers; this is particularly prevalent in parturients who express a preference for non-supine birthing positions. *Methods*: This work is a review of the existing body of literature on quantitative and qualitative outcome measures of alternative birthing positions. In total, 44 articles were analyzed and synthesized exploring second-stage labor duration, maternal hemorrhage, neonatal APGAR scores, and perineal injury. Results: Quantitative outcome measures of perineal injury, duration of second-stage labor, and immediate postpartum maternal and neonatal outcomes demonstrated notable heterogeneity. There is no consensus that alternative birthing positions are more harmful than non-flexible sacrum positions. The existing body of evidence concludes that flexible sacrum positions are favorable for decreased secondstage duration. The data on neonatal outcomes, parturient outcomes, and perineal injury between sacrum-flexible and non-sacrum-flexible positions is heterogeneous. Conclusion: There is no significant trend in medical evidence to suggest increased risk in alternative, flexible-sacrum positions. Birth outcomes are multivariable, and any decision-making must be individualized to accommodate the patient's medical status and comfort. It is important to provide pregnant people with evidence-based counseling on potential outcomes associated with a birth position.

Keywords: birthing position, supine, upright, squatting, sacrum-flexible, culture, tradition

Introduction

In the US today, maternal mortality rates are some of the highest in the nation's history at 32.9 deaths per 100,000 live births in 2021¹; this is a 40% increase from 2020 and an incidence that is ten times that of other comparable high-income nations²⁻⁷. Despite comprising more than half of the world's population, individuals capable of becoming pregnant continue to be some of the most marginalized in the United States and around the world, bearing the burden of discrimination from basic social disrespect to unthinkable violence.^{8,9} The maternal mortality rate is just one instance of this inequity. In industrialized nations, birth has become a medicalized journey. While there are clear benefits, like access to emergency resuscitative services for both parturient and neonate, there is evidence that consequences of this transition include both real and perceived limitations on autonomy.⁹ In many ways, the standards of care regarding birthing positions have become disempowering to parturients. In the Western world, patterns of devaluation, silencing, and forcible adjustment of personal choice to accommodate the convenience of health providers is a pervasive burden on parturients¹⁰⁻¹⁴. This begs the question, to what extent does the lack of comprehensive birthing education, informed consent, and the devaluation of the goals of the parturient in the current American obstetric culture cause the parturient and neonate harm that could be otherwise avoided by improved communication and open-mindedness about the birthing position?

Western medical providers remain largely unaware of the intricacies of global traditional and cultural medical norms, particularly in obstetrics. In doing so, providers predispose themselves to perpetuate biases that limit progress in medicine and directly impact the quality of care provided to their patients. Providers must understand the history, cultural significance, and efficacy of commonly encountered birthing positions, evaluate potential risks and benefits to best educate their patients, and support them in their ultimate decisions on birthing position. This paper will serve as an introductory examination of birthing positions and the opportunities that should be available to parturients throughout the country, regardless of their background.

The disparity in health outcomes between white parturients and black and brown parturients must be acknowledged; this exists both within the United States and globally.^{15,16} The multicultural focus of research and the international origins of the sources included in this review maintain generalizability to the population of parturients in North America, particularly the United States. This focus also gives a platform to the systemically silenced voices of cultural minorities, especially those in colonized nations. This work is unique in its attempt to emphasize non-European sources and decenter Western medicine. This ensures an evaluation of safety and efficacy that is minimally influenced by the Eurocentric norms that have historically overshadowed and erased traditional practices.

It must be recognized that the database search highlighted a scarcity of authenticated high-quality research evidence on traditional health information. With the lack of official documentation of regional traditions, this analysis cannot claim to be a comprehensive understanding of all birthing practices and preferences. Rather, it opens the mind to the vastness of traditional knowledge of physiologic birth and the impossibility of one optimal birthing position.

Also note that the existing body of research on obstetrics refers to birthing individuals using binary terminology (female, woman). These terms are critical identifiers for individuals receiving obstetric care and simultaneously exclude those who have the anatomic and physiologic capability of pregnancy but do not identify as women. The author's original writing will employ more neutral medical terms like parturient to recognize and honor all individuals.

Methods/Evidence Acquisition

Evidence was accessed through a comprehensive search of the Web of Science, Cochrane, and PubMed academic databases using the keyword search "birthing position". The PICO search criteria used were women of childbearing age; birthing position; upright vs supine; and maternal and neonatal outcomes. MeSH term alternatives and additive keywords included supine, upright, squatting, cultural influence, and traditional birthing practices. Within returned articles, generalized keyword searches for "position", "birthing position", "supine", "upright", and "squatting", and the author's discretion, were used to rule out articles whose topics were not relevant.

Articles evaluating the outcomes of various birthing positions were analyzed if perineal injury, duration of second-stage labor, maternal hemorrhage, or neonatal APGAR scores were used as outcome measures. Exclusionary criteria included any database entries for which only an abstract could be found published online, articles published before 1990, articles for which the research objective(s) lacked relevance to the goal of evaluating the merits of various birthing positions, research involving epidural anesthesia, and articles not published in English. French language articles were an exception as the author is proficient. Special emphasis was placed on articles written about or by non-European and non-North American populations.

Results/Discussion/Evidence Synthesis

Medical Determinations of Safety and Efficacy of Birthing Positions

The extensive anecdotal success of alternative birthing positions in non-Western nations and indigenous communities suggests that, unless medically contraindicated, there is no basis on which to deny an individual their preferred birthing position. To confirm this, an extensive exploration of existing research on the medical implications of various birthing positions will

7

now be detailed. Duration of second-stage labor, perineal trauma, and maternal and neonatal outcomes will be the primary foci. For ease of analysis, birth positions are categorized into flexible sacrum positions (FSP), which are those that are non-weight-bearing on the sacrum kneeling, standing, all-fours, squatting, birth seat, and lateral; and non-flexible sacrum positions (NSP), which include semi-recumbent, lithotomy, and supine. These categorizations loosely follow other common divisions of positions, upright/supine and vertical/horizontal.

Duration of the Second Stage of Labor

The duration of the second stage of labor is a valuable index of the efficiency of maternal expulsive efforts and the overall progression of labor. This section will highlight and clarify some inconsistencies within the existing research that compares birthing position and second-stage duration. One review studied a pooled weighted mean difference with a random effect model to find an overall reduction of second-stage duration by 21.118 minutes for those birthing in a flexible sacrum position, 95% CI [11.839-30.396] minutes.¹⁷ Significant heterogeneity was noted between the studies that comprised this final statistical analysis, but this does not curtail the authors' recommendation that individuals should be encouraged to labor in their most comfortable position.¹⁷ A study from Turkey where the squatting birth position is culturally engrained and used nearly universally in the local population demonstrated a mean length of 2nd stage labor that was 34 min shorter when squatting than in a supine position, 21.02 +/- 5.60 min vs 55.40 +/- 6.91 min, p<0.001 indicating a statistically significant reduction in labor duration.¹⁸

Further studies stratified their participants by primiparity and multiparity, finding that the mean second-stage duration of labor was 23 minutes shorter in squatting primiparas than in semi-recumbent primiparas (p=0.04) and 13 minutes shorter in squatting multiparas than in semi-recumbent multiparas (p=0.02).¹⁹ In a synthesis of 19 trials including 5811 participants, upright

positioning leads to decreased duration of the second stage, with a mean duration of -6.16 minutes, 95% CI [-9.74 to -2.59 minutes], p = 0.0007.^{20,21} Note that in this meta-analysis, generalizability is limited by the total sample size and demographics of participants.

The mean duration of the expulsive period was over 3 min shorter among individuals delivering in a vertical rather than horizontal position, though the difference in duration did not reach statistical significance, p=0.06.²² Another study using the categories sacrum flexible and sacrum non-flexible showed a measurable decrease in duration in sacrum flexible positions, but this result also lacked statistical significance.²³ Other research does not support a significant difference in duration between sacrum flexible and sacrum non-flexible (p > 0.05).²⁴

The general trend throughout these sources suggests favorable results in terms of statistical significance that suggest advocating for upright or sacrum flexible positions. No adverse effects on the length of the second stage were reported in upright or sacrum flexible positions. As such, providers should encourage mobility in positioning throughout the second stage to maximize comfort in terms of pain perception, the sensation of strength in pushing, the desire for mobility, and other variables²²⁻²⁴. Please see Appendix A, Table 1: Duration of Second Stage Labor for a summarization of the literature reviewed.

Immediate Postpartum Maternal and Neonatal Health Indicators

Maternal and neonatal mortality is predicted by hemodynamic outcomes and APGAR scores, respectively. This section evaluates birthing positions in the context of these essential measures of postpartum health to determine the immediate risks and benefits of alternative birthing positions for parturients and neonates postpartum.

The APGAR score, a universal measure for neonatal health upon delivery uses a threshold for poor outcomes of APGAR <7 at 1 and/or 5 minutes after delivery. In upright

delivery positions, 0.3% of neonates had an APGAR score <7 at 1 minute. In supine positions, this incidence was 1.3% (p>0.05). Further statistical findings of OR 0.72, 95% CI [0.46 – 1.1326] confirm a nonsignificant trend towards a decreased frequency of APGAR <7 at one minute in vertical position deliveries.^{23,24}

Most studies have found no significant difference in neonatal outcomes regardless of parturient delivery position.²³ One found APGAR scores at 1 and 5 minutes to be 8.0 and 8.9, respectively in the vertical delivery position. Neonates delivered in the horizontal position had APGAR scores at 1 and 5 minutes were 7.9 and 9, respectively, with no observed statistically significant difference between the vertical and horizontal groups.²² In a cohort study of 200, despite all measured neonatal complications having less frequent occurrences in the squatting group, there was still no significant difference in the proportion of infants with 1 and 5-minute APGAR scores less than 7 indicating that there is potential for neonatal benefit from delivery in the squatting position. Further research must be conducted to determine the significance, strength, and generalizability of the data.¹⁹

This multitude of studies suggests that the birthing position is inconsequential to neonatal outcomes. Other variables that have a greater effect on the neonate include fetal presentation, umbilical cord incidents, or oligohydramnios. Of note, there is one quasi-experimental study of 1190 Ethiopian parturients that did demonstrate statistical significance against the safety of flexible sacrum positions, showing in its data that when delivered in the flexible sacrum positions, 28.3% of neonates had a low APGAR score (<7) as compared to 15.60% in the supine position deliveries RR 0.61, 95%CI [0.42-0.89].²⁵ While this isolated study is not enough to change the face of obstetric practice, it does alert healthcare providers to proceed with caution and inform the parturient of the potential risks.

Neonatal safety in alternative birthing positions is relatively well-established; parturient safety must also be ensured. In the later stages of pregnancy, pregnant individuals are advised not to lay directly on their backs, and providers are trained to minimize examining the pregnant patient in a supine reclined position.²⁶⁻²⁹ Motivation for this standard is multifaceted, but some posit that this practice avoids compression of the inferior vena cava by the distended uterus and fetus.³⁰⁻³² Based on this principle, it appears counterintuitive that a supine position is standard during labor when strong, high-volume, consistent blood flow throughout the systemic circuit is essential. Research inquiries bring this very circumstance into question.

By virtue of physiology and gravity, vertical and lateral recumbent positions best support parturient hemodynamics during the delivery process. These avoid compression of major vessels and maximize circulation to the parturient and fetal circulatory systems.³³ Although most parturients in the United States continue to progress through the second stage in the lithotomy position, the use of such supine positions is associated with negative parturient, fetal, and neonatal hemodynamic outcomes.²⁰

Hemodynamic optimization by birth position reaches no static conclusion in research, with heterogeneous and conflicting data prevailing. In upright positions, the third stage of labor may be associated with an increased risk of hemorrhage and more blood volume loss, OR = 1.71, CI 95 % [1.31–2.23].³³ Other data suggests that when evaluating parturient blood loss, no significant difference can be found between upright and horizontal positioning. Three of 307 individuals hemorrhaged in the upright position, and 6 of 301 individuals hemorrhaged in the horizontal position (p > 0.05).²⁴ A nonrandomized, controlled clinical trial found that mean blood loss in the supine position was 358 cm³ compared to non-supine positions at 295 cm³,²³ and a

randomized clinical trial showed mean blood loss in a vertical position was 554.5g as compared to 516.6g in a horizontal position.²²

Incidence of hemorrhage has also been studied alongside hemorrhage volume; a 1993 cohort study found the incidence of postpartum hemorrhage was 7.5% in the squatting group and 10% in the semirecumbent group.¹⁹ A 2003 case control study concluded that upright positioning caused only 1% of parturients to lose >500mL of estimated blood volume while supine caused 2% of parturients to lose >500mL of estimated blood volume.²⁴ In all of these studies, the results continue to be nonsignificant.

Over the same period that the use of sacrum flexible positions as an intervention increased from 1% to 76% frequency, the odds of maternal and neonatal complications decreased by 46% in a controlled cohort study.³⁴ While this does not guarantee causation, the temporality is convincing to indicate a correlation. In the same study median blood loss was reduced from 200mL to 150mL which was statistically significant with p<0.001.³⁴ Contrarily, a French review of literature in 2005 concluded that in vertical positions, the third stage of labor may be associated with an increased risk of hemorrhage and more blood volume loss, OR = 1.71, CI 95% [1.31–2.23].³³

Altogether, a review of literature concluded that the existing body of evidence suggests the use of the supine position is associated with more negative parturient, fetal, and neonatal hemodynamic outcomes than sacrum-flexible positions.²⁰ This review found more statistically insignificant evidence than not, and outcomes were generally heterogeneous. It is still reasonable to state that there is minimal increase in the risk of hemorrhage when comparing supine positioning to upright positioning; the isolated study suggests this adverse outcome should cause providers to use caution and be diligent in monitoring their patients postpartum. Please see

Appendix A, Table 2: Neonatal Outcomes- APGAR Score and Appendix A, Table 3: Maternal Outcomes- Hemorrhage for a summarization of the literature reviewed.

Perineal Trauma and OASI

Neonatal APGAR scores and parturient hemorrhaging predominate the monitoring and examination objectives in the immediate postpartum period, but perineal trauma is a routine complication that also must be addressed. A major concern when considering the recommendation and implementation of upright birthing positions is the incidence of perineal injury, specifically tears. Perineal trauma and obstetric anal sphincter injury (OASI) is an insightful outcome measure based on its clear diagnostic criteria for severity. Even when stratified for other birthing variables like parity, newborn weight, and anesthesia, no clear consensus on the effect of birthing position on the incidence and severity of perineal laceration has been reached.

Non-flexible sacrum positions show some increased risk of tearing in an Ethiopian study population 95%CI [17.8-24.4],²⁵ corroborated by data from a population of parturients in the Netherlands. In non-flexible sacrum positions, these individuals had the highest rate of 3rd- and 4th-degree tears at 5.6% (p=0.017) compared to parturients delivering in other positions.³⁵ A measurable trend towards a lower rate of intact perineum postpartum just missed the margin of statistical significance (p=0.056).³⁵ Lithotomy, specifically, had an increased risk of perineal trauma in both nulliparous and parous Swedish parturients despite stratification, seen as an adjusted RR of 1.17; 95%CI [1.06-1.29] and an adjusted RR of 1.66, 95% CI [1.35-2.05], respectively.³⁶ Contrarily, a multivariate analysis from Brazilian data suggested the supine position was protective and reduced OASI in the population by 63%, 95%CI [0.22-0.99].³⁷ Note that the overall relationship between birth position and OASI was non-significant in the Brazilian

population studied, p = 0.458.³⁷ Despite some conflicting data, patterns of risk may suggest that non-flexible sacrum positions have higher rates of perineal trauma, and may also point to increased severity of the perineal injury.

The same Ethiopian study mentioned above found a significantly decreased incidence of tearing, 95% CI [9.0-15.6]²⁵ in flexible sacrum positions which was corroborated by Swedish parturients who have decreased risk of perineal laceration in specifically the lateral birthing position, adjusted RR 0.79, 95% CI [0.68-0.92].³⁶ Flexible sacrum positions had no statistical significance in the Brazilian study, showing similar rates of OASI between upright and supine birthing (p=0.120).³⁷ There was no association between position and sutured perineal injury, OR 1.02, 95% CI [0.86-1.21], and no association with severe perineal trauma, OR 0.68, 95% CI [0.26-1.79.³⁵ A non-significant trend towards higher intact perineum rate in flexible sacrum positions was seen in the Netherlands, adjusted RR 1.4, 95% CI [0.96-2.04].³⁸ Other data specifically for parous parturients from the Netherlands population suggested the sitting and squatting positions conveyed an increased risk of perineal injury, adjusted RR 1.36, 95%CI [1.03-1.8] and adjusted RR 2.16, 95%CI [1.15-4.07].³⁶ In the squatting position, evidence demonstrates significantly less severe and fewer perineal lacerations and fewer medically necessary episiotomies, (p=0.0001).^{19,23}

Contradictory evidence suggests an increase in the rate of specifically second-degree perineal tears in a population of parturients using flexible sacrum position, RR 1.63, 95% CI [1.29–2.05].²⁰ This potential for increased risk in non-flexible sacrum positions is corroborated by multiparous, non-VBAC parturients who utilized a birth seat; significant increases in labial tears 95% CI [1.33-2.33], vaginal tears >3cm, 95% CI [1.29-4.63], and 2nd-degree perineal tears 95% CI [1.13-1.92] were found in those giving birth in a seated position.³⁹ This same population

experienced significant decreases in intact genital tracts postpartum 95% CI [0.56-0.92].³⁹ Similar results were found in multiparous VBAC parturients within the same study, with significant increases in 2nd and 3rd-4th degree tears, 95% CI [1.39-12.94] and 95% CI [5.13-65.94], respectively.³⁹ A significant decrease in those with no perineal tears or episiotomy 95% CI [0.07-0.79] was seen in parturients sitting on a birthing seat.³⁹ An increased speed of fetal expulsion due to gravity and a hindered ability of the provider to provide physical perineal support or implement other protective measures could explain these results showing more frequent and more severe perineal injury in parturients delivering on a birth seat.

Parity continues to be an essential variable by which to stratify data in a further study evaluating midwife-attended birth. Soong and Barnes show a statistically significant increase in overall perineal trauma requiring sutures in semi-recumbent (NSP) and all-fours positions (FSP) 95% CI [1.01-1.33] and 95% CI [0.62-0.96] respectively. They later note that for nulliparous parturients specifically, the all-fours position (FSP) is significantly protective for perineal laceration requiring sutures 95% CI [0.47-0.93] with no other upright or horizontal positions showing any significant difference.⁴⁰ Soong and Barnes note that regardless of clinician advocacy for alternative birthing positions, parturients primarily delivered in a semi-recumbent position, citing a possible lack of appropriate muscular fitness and/or endurance in modern Australian parturients to maintain alternative positions throughout labor.⁴⁰ This raises the idea that alternative, and especially upright, birthing positions tend to be prevalent in non-Westernized countries or communities where the average level of physical fitness is often higher due to the daily demands of living activities.

There is no overwhelming evidence across studies and patient populations to indicate that a position should be avoided due to the risk of perineal injury. There is a trend towards increased incidence and severity of perineal trauma in non-flexible sacrum positions; at a minimum, patients should not be discouraged from attempting alternative positions.

The implications of this evidence are such that providers must be flexible and communicative with their patients, providing sufficient antepartum education on the options for and risks associated with birthing positions. Providers must take on the responsibility of accommodating the dynamic preferences of the parturient during their labor and delivery process. Please see Appendix A, Table 4: Perineal Trauma for a summarization of the literature reviewed.

Social Implications of Opportunities to Utilize Preference in Birthing Position

A focus on the medical implications of birthing positions should not preclude the consideration of the effects on patient satisfaction, provider comfort, demonstration of cultural competency, and the implementation of patient-centered care. The overwhelming consensus from studies of communities around the world is that medicalized birthing environments do not support birthing positions other than supine.^{10-12,41-51} This leads to parturients avoiding skilled medical care and seeking the aid of traditional birth attendants, community, and family throughout the labor and delivery process at home.^{42,44,45,47,50} This inflexibility in the institutional setting puts individuals at risk by discouraging them from laboring and delivering in a medical facility.

Study participants who birthed in a medical facility alleged their preferences for birthing positions were denied. Some experienced physical abuse or restraint surrounding the circumstances of their positioning. The reality is that denial of a preferred position is an insidious form of obstetric violence and is easily escalated to more overt forms of abuse.^{8,9,52,53} Obstetric violence, prevalent globally, finds its foundation in gender, race, and class inequities that erase autonomy and continue to undermine the power of birthing people;^{9,53} the normalization and

pervasiveness of this phenomenon beget its perpetuity. There is reason for concern that the basic principle of informed consent is not upheld with regard to patient education on birthing positions.

The relationship between birthing position and culture cannot be understated. This is exemplified by research from Vietnam and Laos, where parturients gave birth in an upright position supported from the back by a birth attendant.^{12,41} Similarly in Tanzania, Ghana, Kenya, Mexico, and India birth traditionally occurs in the upright position (sitting, squatting, or kneeling) with the availability of various culturally-specific physical supports like ropes or trees for parturients to hold on to for stability.^{13,42-45,47,49-51} After European influence spread through these countries post-colonization, Western medicine overtook these traditional practices and lead to supine positioning being the ubiquitous form of birthing, as few modern parturients know any alternative. Reports cite that parturients' use of the supine position during labor and/or delivery is involuntary,^{12,13,46} which may be perceived as a reinforcement of the inherent power imbalance between the provider and the patient.

In qualitative reports, participants cited their perception of pain, strength in pushing, and ease of breathing as reasons for preferring non-supine positions. However, patients' apprehension and aversion towards supine positioning is not exclusively based on their comfort. Rather, their cultural and religious norms require privacy and modesty to maintain dignity; supine, and specifically lithotomy, birthing positions are perceived to violate these standards of behavior.^{10,46,51} This incompatibility of cultural norms with a forced birthing position is unacceptable.

The wealth of medical knowledge providers hold should never overshadow the individual's expertise on their own body and lived experience. Further examples of providers

utilizing the power dynamic to their advantage and disempowering their patients are exposed by qualitative research in South Africa.⁵⁴ For reasons such as discomfort with deviating from the conventions of the setting in which they work and preconceived fears of alternative birth, South African midwives repeatedly imposed their cultural conventions on the parturients they were serving, disregarding preferences of the parturients' culture.⁵⁴

South Africa is met in this inequity by Brazil, where a study comprised of primarily black and brown parturients found that in antepartum care and labor and delivery, health professionals condescended to the knowledge and preference of indigenous individuals with the desire to birth upright while normalizing birth in lithotomy by referring to the position as "instinctive".⁸

In other cultures, alternative birthing positions are relatively well-known, yet remain under-recommended and even discouraged by healthcare workers in institutions.⁵⁵ Research in Central India reports that less than half of nurses recommend squatting positions to laboring people, frequently citing convenience for the provider as motivation for encouraging supine positioning.⁵⁵ Other barriers to using alternative birthing positions have been reported as lack of training or experience with delivery in these positions, inadequate facilities or equipment to accommodate various positions or changes in positions, and challenges with communication with the parturient.⁵⁶

This omnipresent refusal to recognize and encourage patient autonomy in birth positioning is concerning at best and a dehumanizing contribution to the pandemic of obstetric violence at worst. Providers must commit to a rights-based approach to birth despite the influence of colonialism and patriarchy that reinforce this power imbalance between provider and patient. Birthing can be approached with humility by the provider as they prioritize their role as birth companions as highly as their role as healthcare professionals. Providers must respect patient preference to the extent that is medically allowable. Providers also have a responsibility to ensure that the patients can fulfill the essential criteria of informed consent and equitably contribute to shared decision-making.

Conclusion

The implications of the rich cultural diversity of birth position traditions combined with the relatively well-studied but heterogeneous physiologic and psychologic effects of birthing position secure this topic's importance in obstetric discourse for the foreseeable future. Regarding physiologic outcomes for both parturient and neonate, the data shows no clear superior birthing position. The evidence for risk in the alternative, non-supine birthing positions does not show any significant adverse effect as compared to Western traditional supine positioning. As such, alternative positions should not be prohibited.

Emphasizing patient-centered care by comprehensively educating parturients on their labor and delivery position options and supporting parturients' autonomy in selecting a position and maintaining mobility if desired greatly improves patient perceptions of care. Medical providers can use this evidence to counsel their patients on the risks and benefits. Engaging the patient in shared decision-making is a tenet of the patient-centered care concepts so often highlighted in recent medical education. Promoting patient choice in birthing position is a primary way to achieve these goals in the field of obstetrics.

Appendix A: Tables*

*Green = outcome supports safety and efficacy of alternative birthing positions and is statistically significant; Red = outcome does not support safety and efficacy of alternative birthing positions and is statistically significant; Yellow = no difference is noted between position categories or difference in outcome is not statistically significant

Table 1: Duration of Second Stage Labor

First Author	Year	Study Design	Population (n)	Key Findings	Comments
Berta	2019	review of literature	1680 citations	a pooled weighted mean difference with random effect model to find an overall reduction of the duration of the second stage of labor for those birthing in a flexible sacrum position, with an overall decrease of 21.118(95%CI:11.839-30.396) minutes	
Golay	1993	cohort study	200	Primiparous individuals had a second-stage duration 23 min shorter in squatting than semirecumbent $p=0.04$; multiparous individuals had a second-stage duration 13 minutes shorter in squatting than semirecumbent $p=0.02$	
Gupta	2017	review of literature	32	Birthing in an upright position was associated with a mean reduction in duration of second-stage labor of 6.16 seconds (95% CI -9.74 to -2.59 minutes; $P=0.0007$)	Interpret this result with caution due to large differences in size and direction of effect in individual studies; this is low quality evidence.
Bodner-Adler	2003	case-control study	307	There was no statistical significance in difference of second-stage duration between the two groups ($p > 0.05$)	
Bomfim-Hyp polito	2000	randomized clinical trial	248	The mean duration of the second stage was over 3 min shorter in the vertical delivery positions than in horizontal positions; this difference did not reach statistical significance (P=0.06)	
Thies-Lagergr en	2020	prospective cohort study	4663	Using stratified data for analysis, primiparous participants not using a birth seat were in a semi-recumbent position; 44.4% had a second stage duration of 0-29 min, significantly less than 51.8% of primiparous participants who were upright in a birth seat and experienced this short second stage duration (P<0.001). Multiparous participants showed no significant difference in duration of second-stage between positions (p=0.002). Unstratified data showed 70.6% of no birth seat had a 0-29 min second stage, as compared to 64.9% of all participants using a birth seat with p<0.001.	
Huang	2019	review of literature	N/A	Compiling data for meta-analysis suggests that upright positions allows a mean reduction in second-stage labor of 6.6 min when compared to the supine position (95% CI:9.74-2.59)	
Moraloglu	2017	prospective cohort study	102	when comparing squatting and supine positions the mean duration of the squatting group's second-stage of labor was 34 min shorter than in the supine group (21.02 \pm 5.60 min versus 55.40 \pm 5.61 min, Pe -0.001),	
Badi	2022	Quasi-Experi mental	1190	The mean difference between flexible sacrum positioning and the supine position was a 26 min increase in second-stage labor for the supine individuals (p<000, CI: 23-28)	

Table 2: Neonatal Outcomes- APGAR Score

First Author	Year	Study Design	Population (n)	Key Findings	Comments
Badi	2022	Quasi-Experimental	1190	When delivered in the flexible sacrum positions, 28.3% of neonates had a low APGAR score (<7) as compared to 15.60% in the supine position deliveries. RR 0.61 (95%CI: 0.42-0.89).	
Terry	2006	non-randomized, controlled clinical trial	198	Supine positioning APGAR scores at 1- and 5-minutes were 8.1 and 8.9, respectively; Nonsupine APGAR scores at 1- and 5- minutes were 8.4 and 9.2, respectively. There is no statistically significant difference between the groups.	
Bomfim-Hypp olito	1998	randomized clinical trial	248	Vertical positioning APGAR scores at 1- and 5-minutes were 8.0 and 8.9, respectively; Horizontal APGAR scores at 1- and 5- minutes were 7.9 and 9, respectively. There is no statistically significant difference between the groups.	
Golay	1993	cohort study	200	Regardless of delivery position infants demonstrated excellent 1-minute and 5-minute Apgar with no statistical difference	Each of the variables used to measure neonatal complications had less frequent occurrences in the squatting group despite statistical insignificance.
Bodner-Adler	2003	case control study	614	There were no significant differences in rates of APGAR score < 7 at 1 and 5 minutes (1/307 vs. 4/307; 0/307vs. 0/307) between upright and supine positioning at delivery.	

Table 3: Maternal Outcomes- Hemorrhage

First Author	Year	Study Design	Population (n)	Key Findings	Comments
Terry	2006	non-randomiz ed, controlled clinical trial	198	Mean blood loss in the supine position was 358 cm ³ compared to non-supine positions at 295 cm ³ .	Blood loss is estimated, which does not lend the measurement to valid statistical analysis.
Bomfim-Hyppolito	1998	randomized clinical trial	248	Mean blood loss in a vertical position was 554.5g as compared to in a horizontal position at 516.5g.	p = 0.52 is insignificant, and blood loss is estimated.
Golay	1993	cohort study	200	Incidence of postpartum hemorrhage was 7.5% in the squatting group and 10% in the semirecumbent group.	Each of the variables used to measure maternal complications had lower occurence in the squatting group despite statistical insignificance.
Bodner-Adler	2003	case control study	614	Upright positioning caused only 1% of parturients to lose >500mL estimated blood volume; supine caused 2% of parturients to lose >500mL estimated blood volume. This difference is not statistically significant.	
Pervin	2018	controlled cohort study	1,051	Researchers advocating for the use of upright and lateral positioning over supine positioning found that over the same period of time that the use of these sacrum flexible positions increased from 1% to 76% frequency, the odds of maternal and neonatal complications decreased by 46%. Median blood loss was reduced from 200mL to 150mL which was statistically significant with $p < 0.001$.	
Racinet	2005	review of literature	NA	In vertical positions, the third stage of labor may be associated with an increased risk of hemorrhage and more blood volume loss (OR = 1.71 , CI 95 % $1.31-2.23$)	
Roberts	2007	review of literature	NA	The use of the supine position is associated with negative narturient, fetal, and neonatal hemodynamic outcomes.	

Table 4: Perineal Injury

First Author	Year	Study Design	Population (n)	Key Findings	
Badi	2022	Quasi-Experimental	1190	In the supine position, there were increased rates of tearing (RR 20.9; 95%CI: 17.8-24.4). The flexible sacrum positions showed decreased rates of tearing (RR 11.9; 95% CI: 9.0-15.6).	
Reis	2019	Retrospective Cohort Analysis	1728	A multivariate analysis supported supine positioning as a protective intervention against obstetric anal sphincter injury (OASI), reducing rates by 63%: 0.47 (95%CI 0.22-0.99). In univariate analysis, OASI rates were similar between 8 upright and supine (p=0.120).	
Edqvist	2016	population-based prospective cohort study	2992	There appeared to be no association between sutured perineal injury and parturient position(OR 1.02; 95% CI 0.86-1.21) and no association with severe perineal trauma and parturient position (OR 0.68; 95% CI 0.26-1.79).	
Warmink-Pe rdijk	2015	prospective cohort study	1196	Non-flexible sacrum positions had the highest rate of 3rd and 4th-degree tears ($p=0.017$) at 5.6% and a nonsignificant trend towards the lowest rate of intact perineum ($p=0.056$). Sacrum flexible positions demonstrated a nonsignificant trend towards higher rates of intact perineum (adjusted RR 1.4; 95% CI 0.96-2.04).	
Elvander	2015	prospective population-based cohort study	113279	Nulliparous: Of the non-flexible sacrum positions, lithotomy demonstrated an increased risk with an adjusted RR of 1.17 (1.06-1.29). Of the sacrum flexible positions, there appears to be a decreased risk in lateral positioning with an adjusted RR of 0.79 (0.68-0.92).	
				Parous: Of the non-flexible sacrum positions, lithotomy demonstrated an increased risk with an adjusted RR of 1.66 (1.35-2.05). There is an increased risk of perineal injury with birth seat and squatting in this study with an adjusted RR of 1.36 (1.03-1.80) and an adjusted RR of 2.16 (1.15 and 4.07) respectively.	
Golay	1993	cohort study	200	There was no significant difference found, but of the primiparous participants 23.5% had intact perineum postpartum in non-flexible sacrum positions 55.8% had intact perineum. Of the multiparous participants, there was no difference in intact perineum with both positioning groups demonstrating a rate of 43.8%. Regardless of parity, significantly fewer and less severe perineal lacerations and fewer episiotiomies occurred in the squatting group $P=0.001$.	
Terry	2006	non-randomized, controlled clinical trial	198	Only 22% of parturients delivering in non-flexible sacrum positions were left with intact perineums. Of the parturients in flexible sacrum positions, 60% left intact; Infants born to mothers in nonsupine positions were delivered with significantly less tearing of the perineum (P <.001).	
Roberts	2007	review of literature	NA	Flexible sacrum positions showed an increase in second-degree perineal tears (RR, 1.63; 95% CI, 1.29-2.05).	
Thies-Lager gren	2020	prospective cohort study	4663	In primiparous individuals, delivering upright in a birth seat showed an increase in labial tears (non-birth seat 45.7%, birth seat 58.5% (Adjusted OR, 1.67; CI: 1.40–1.98). In multiparous individuals, delivering upright in a birth seat also showed an increase in labial tears (non-birth seat 14.8%, birth seat 25.6% (Adjusted OR, 1.80; CI: 1.40–2.31).	
Bomfim-Hyp	1998	randomized clinical trial	248	A nonsignificant difference showed non-flexible sacrum positions with laceration at a rate of 44%, and flexible sacrum positions at 47%.	
Bodner-Adl er	2003	case control study	614	Supine positioning as opposed to upright showed fewer occurrences by the proportion of the study group population with perineal trauma for all degrees of perineal trauma with statistical significance (p=0.078). Supine positioning also had less vaginal and labial trauma which was not statistically significant.	
Pervin	2018	cohort study	1,051	Researchers advocating for the use of upright and lateral positioning over supine positioning found that over the same period of time that the use of these sacrum flexible positions increased from 1% to 76% frequency, the frequency of cervical tear was reduced significantly (3.8% to 1.5%, $P = 0.02$).	

References

1. Jiao MJ, Liu XQ, Ren YS, et al. Comparison of Herbal Medicines Used for Women's Menstruation Diseases in Different Areas of the World. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*. Feb 2022;12751207. doi:10.3389/fphar.2021.751207

2. Hirshberg A, Srinivas SK. Epidemiology of maternal morbidity and mortality. *Seminars in Perinatology*. Oct 2017;41(6):332-337. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2017.07.007

3. Simpson KR. Maternal Morbidity and Mortality Crisis in the United States Strategies for Improvement from the White House and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Mcn-the American Journal of Maternal-Child Nursing*. Nov-Dec 2022;47(6):367-367. doi:10.1097/nmc.0000000000868

4. Troiano NH, Witcher PM. Maternal Mortality and Morbidity in the United States Classification, Causes, Preventability, and Critical Care Obstetric Implications. *Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing*. Jul-Sep 2018;32(3):222-231. doi:10.1097/jpn.00000000000349

5. Ozimek JA, Kilpatrick SJ. Maternal Mortality in the Twenty-First Century. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*. Jun 2018;45(2):175-+. doi:10.1016/j.ogc.2018.01.004

6. Joseph KS, Boutin A, Lisonkova S, et al. Maternal Mortality in the United States Recent Trends, Current Status, and Future Considerations. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. May 2021;137(5):763-771. doi:10.1097/aog.00000000004361

7. Neggers YH. Trends in maternal mortality in the United States. *Reproductive Toxicology*. Sep 2016;64:72-76. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.04.001

8. Niy DY, de Oliveira VC, de Oliveira LR, Alonso BD, Diniz CSG. Overcoming the culture of physical immobilization of birthing women in Brazilian healthcare system? Findings of an intervention study in Sao Paulo, Brazil. *Interface-Comunicacao Saude Educacao*. 2019;23UNSP e180074. doi:10.1590/Interface.180074

9. Giacomozzi M, de la Torre FF, Khalil M. Standing up for your birth rights: An intersectional comparison of obstetric violence and birth positions between Quichua and Egyptian women. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*. Nov 2021;155(2):247-259. doi:10.1002/ijgo.13890

10. Ababor S, Birhanu Z, Defar A, et al. Socio-cultural Beliefs and Practices Influencing Institutional Delivery Service Utilization in Three Communities of Ethiopia: A Qualitative Study. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Sciences*. May 2019;29(3):343-352. doi:10.4314/ejhs.v29i3.6

11. Mselle LT, Kohi TW, Dol J. Humanizing birth in Tanzania: a qualitative study on the (mis) treatment of women during childbirth from the perspective of mothers and fathers. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Jul 2019;19231. doi:10.1186/s12884-019-2385-5

12. Sychareun V, Hansana V, Somphet V, Xayavong S, Phengsavanh A, Popenoe R. Reasons rural Laotians choose home deliveries over delivery at health facilities: a qualitative study. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Aug 2012;1286. doi:10.1186/1471-2393-12-86

13. Mselle LT, Eustace L. Why do women assume a supine position when giving birth? The perceptions and experiences of postnatal mothers and nurse-midwives in Tanzania. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Jan 2020;20(1)doi:10.1186/s12884-020-2726-4

14. Logan RG, Mclemore MR, Julian Z, Stoll K, Malhotra N, Vedam S. Coercion and nonconsent during birth and newborn care in the United States. *Birth*. 2022-12-01 2022;49(4):749-762. doi:10.1111/birt.12641

15. Murphy L, Liu F. A new perspective on the maternal mortality disparity. *Nursing Forum*. 2022-01-01 2022;57(1):171-176. doi:10.1111/nuf.12652

16. Njoku A, Evans M, Nimo-Sefah L, Bailey J. Listen to the Whispers before They Become Screams: Addressing Black Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in the United States. *Healthcare*. 2023-02-03 2023;11(3):438. doi:10.3390/healthcare11030438

17. Berta M, Lindgren H, Christensson K, Mekonnen S, Adefris M. Effect of maternal birth positions on duration of second stage of labor: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Dec 2019;19(1)466. doi:10.1186/s12884-019-2620-0

18. Moraloglu O, Kansu-Celik H, Tasci Y, et al. The influence of different maternal pushing positions on birth outcomes at the second stage of labor in nulliparous women. Article. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*. Jan 2017;30(2):245-249. doi:10.3109/14767058.2016.1169525

19. Golay J, Vedam S, Sorger L. THE SQUATTING POSITION FOR THE 2ND STAGE OF LABOR - EFFECTS ON LABOR AND ON MATERNAL AND FETAL WELL-BEING. Article. *Birth-Issues in Perinatal Care*. Jun 1993;20(2):73-78. doi:10.1111/j.1523-536X.1993.tb00420.x

20. Roberts J, Hanson L. Best practices in second stage labor care: Maternal bearing down and positioning. Article. *Journal of Midwifery & Womens Health*. May-Jun 2007;52(3):238-245. doi:10.1016/j.jmwh.2006.12.011

21. Gupta JK, Sood A, Hofmeyr GJ, Vogel JP. Position in the second stage of labour for women without epidural anaesthesia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2017-05-25 2017;2017(5)doi:10.1002/14651858.cd002006.pub4

22. Bomfim-Hyppolito S. Influence of the position of the mother at delivery over some maternal and neonatal outcomes. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*. Dec 1998;63:S67-S73. doi:10.1016/s0020-7292(98)00186-6

23. Terry RR, Westcott J, O'Shea L, Kelly F. Postpartum outcomes in supine delivery by physicians vs nonsupine delivery by midwives. Controlled Clinical Trial;. *The Journal of the American Osteopathic Association*. 2006-Apr 2006;106(4):199-202.

24. Bodner-Adler B, Bodner K, Kimberger O, Lozanov P, Husslein P, Mayerhofer K. Women's position during labour: influence on maternal and neonatal outcome. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift.* 2003-10-01 2003;115(19-20):720-723. doi:10.1007/bf03040889

25. Badi MB, Abebe SM, Weldetsadic MA, Christensson K, Lindgren H. Effect of Flexible Sacrum Position on Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes in Public Health Facilities, Amhara Regional State, Ethiopia: A Quasi-Experimental Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. Aug 2022;19(15)9637. doi:10.3390/ijerph19159637

26. Heazell A, Li M, Budd J, et al. Association between maternal sleep practices and late stillbirth - findings from a stillbirth case-control study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*. 2018-01-01 2018;125(2):254-262. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.14967

27. Mccowan LME, Thompson JMD, Cronin RS, et al. Going to sleep in the supine position is a modifiable risk factor for late pregnancy stillbirth; Findings from the New Zealand multicentre stillbirth case-control study. *PLOS ONE*. 2017-06-13 2017;12(6):e0179396. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0179396

28. Gordon A, Raynes-Greenow C, Bond D, Morris J, Rawlinson W, Jeffery H. Sleep Position, Fetal Growth Restriction, and Late-Pregnancy Stillbirth The Sydney Stillbirth Study. Article. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. Feb 2015;125(2):347-355. doi:10.1097/aog.00000000000627

29. Stacey T, Thompson JMD, Mitchell EA, Ekeroma AJ, Zuccollo JM, McCowan LME. Association Between Maternal Sleep Practices and Risk of Late Stillbirth: A Case-Control Study. Editorial Material. *Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey*. Oct 2011;66(10):601-602. doi:10.1097/OGX.0b013e31823d8532

30. Kinsella SM, Lohmann G. SUPINE HYPOTENSIVE SYNDROME. Review. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. May 1994;83(5):774-788.

31. Milsom I, Forssman L. FACTORS INFLUENCING AORTOCAVAL COMPRESSION IN LATE PREGNANCY. Article. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 1984 1984;148(6):764-771. doi:10.1016/0002-9378(84)90563-5

32. Humphries A, Mirjalili SA, Tarr GP, Thompson JMD, Stone P. The effect of supine positioning on maternal hemodynamics during late pregnancy. Article. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*. Dec 2 2019;32(23):3923-3930. doi:10.1080/14767058.2018.1478958

33. Racinet C. Maternal posture during parturition. Positions maternelles pour l'accouchement. *Gynecologie, obstetrique & fertilite*. 2005 2005;33(7-8):533-8. doi:10.1016/j.gyobfe.2005.05.022

34. Pervin J, Aktar S, Nu UT, Rahman M, Rahman A. Associations between improved care during the second stage of labour and maternal and neonatal health outcomes in a rural hospital in Bangladesh. Article. *Midwifery*. Nov 2018;66:30-35. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2018.07.010

35. Warmink-Perdijk WDB, Koelewijn JM, de Jonge A, van Diem MT, Lagro-Janssen ALM. Better perineal outcomes in sitting birthing position cannot be explained by changing from upright to supine position for performing an episiotomy. *Midwifery*. 2016 Mar (Epub 2016 Jan 2016;34:1-6. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2016.01.010

36. Elvander C, Ahlberg M, Thies-Lagergren L, Cnattingius S, Stephansson O. Birth position and obstetric anal sphincter injury: a population-based study of 113 000 spontaneous births. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth.* 2015 Oct 2015;15:252. doi:10.1186/s12884-015-0689-7

37. Reis ZSN, Pereira GMV, Vianini ALF, Monteiro MVC, Aguiar R. Do We Know How to Avoid OASIs in Non-Supine Birth Positions? A Retrospective Cohort Analysis. *Revista Brasileira De Ginecologia E Obstetricia*. Oct 2019;41(10):581-587. doi:10.1055/s-0039-1697986

38. Edqvist M, Blix E, Hegaard HK, et al. Perineal injuries and birth positions among 2992 women with a low risk pregnancy who opted for a homebirth. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Jul 2016;16196. doi:10.1186/s12884-016-0990-0

39. Thies-Lagergren L, Uldbjerg T, Maimburg RD. Genital tract tears in women giving birth on a birth seat: A cohort study with prospectively collected data. *Women and Birth*. Feb 2020;33(1):15-21. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2018.12.006

40. Soong B, Barnes M. Maternal position at midwife-attended birth and perineal trauma: is there an association? *Birth (Berkeley, Calif)*. 2005 2005;32(3):164-9. doi:10.1111/j.0730-7659.2005.00365.x

41. White J, Oosterhoff P, Huong NT. Deconstructing 'barriers' to access: minority ethnic women and medicalised maternal health services in Vietnam. *Global public health*. 2012 (Epub 2012 May 2012;7(8):869-81. doi:10.1080/17441692.2012.679743

42. Tabong PTN, Kyilleh JM, Amoah WW. Reasons for the utilization of the services of traditional birth attendants during childbirth: A qualitative study in Northern Ghana. *Womens Health.* Mar 2021;1717455065211002483. doi:10.1177/17455065211002483

43. Aziato L, Omenyo CN. Initiation of traditional birth attendants and their traditional and spiritual practices during pregnancy and childbirth in Ghana. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Mar 2018;1864. doi:10.1186/s12884-018-1691-7

44. Adatara P, Strumpher J, Ricks E, Mwini-Nyaledzigbor PP. Cultural beliefs and practices of women influencing home births in rural Northern Ghana. *International Journal of Womens Health*. 2019;11:353-361. doi:10.2147/ijwh.s190402

45. Karanja S, Gichuki R, Igunza P, et al. Factors influencing deliveries at health facilities in a rural Maasai Community in Magadi sub-County, Kenya. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Jan 2018;185. doi:10.1186/s12884-017-1632-x

46. Dev A, Kivland C, Faustin M, Turnier O, Bell T, Leger MD. Perceptions of isolation during facility births in Haiti-a qualitative study. *Reproductive Health*. Dec 2019;16(1)185. doi:10.1186/s12978-019-0843-1

47. Sarmiento I, Paredes-Solis S, Garcia AD, et al. Safe birth in cultural safety in southern Mexico: a pragmatic non-inferiority cluster-randomised controlled trial. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Jan 2022;22(1)43. doi:10.1186/s12884-021-04344-w

48. Carvalho I, Chacham AS, Viana P. Traditional birth attendants and their practices in the State of Pernambuco rural area, Brazil, 1996. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*. Dec 1998;63:S53-S60. doi:10.1016/s0020-7292(98)00184-2

49. Saxena V, Jelly P, Sharma R. An exploratory study on traditional practices of families during the perinatal period among traditional birth attendants in Uttarakhand. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*. Jan 2020;9(1):156-161. doi:10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_697_19

50. Saravanan S, Turrell G, Johnson H, Fraser J, Patterson C. Traditional birth attendant training and local birthing practices in India. *Evaluation and Program Planning*. Aug 2011;34(3):254-265. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2011.02.012

51. Saravanan S, Johnson H, Turrell G, Fraser J. Social Roles and Birthing Practices of Traditional Birth Attendants in India with reference to other Developing Countries. *Asian Journal of Womens Studies*. 2009;15(4):57-89.

52. Mayra K, Sandall J, Matthews Z, Padmadas SS. Breaking the silence about obstetric violence: Body mapping women's narratives of respect, disrespect and abuse during childbirth in Bihar, India. *Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth*. Apr 2022;22(1)318. doi:10.1186/s12884-022-04503-7

53. Garcia LM. A concept analysis of obstetric violence in the United States of America. *Nursing Forum.* 2020-11-01 2020;55(4):654-663. doi:10.1111/nuf.12482

54. Musie MR, Peu MD, Bhana-Pema V. Culturally appropriate care to support maternal positions during the second stage of labour: Midwives' perspectives in South Africa. *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine*. Apr 2022;14(1)a3292. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v14i1.3292

55. Yadav A, Kamath A, Mundle S, Baghel J, Sharma C, Prakash A. Exploring the perspective of nursing staff or caregivers on birthing positions in Central India. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*. Mar 2021;10(3):1149-1154. doi:10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_2066_20

56. Musie MR, Peu MD, Bhana-Pema V. Factors hindering midwives' utilisation of alternative birth positions during labour in a selected public hospital. *African journal of primary health care & family medicine*. 2019 Sep 2019;11(1):e1-e8. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v11i1.2071